STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEMARIO MONTE THOMPSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000126

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the trespass notice letter signed by Keasia Drafton and the apartment complex manager, Janice Sager, advising Drafton that she could be evicted if Appellant was found in the apartment complex where:

- (A) The letter was irrelevant to the accusations against Appellant.
- (B) Assuming *arguendo* that the letter may have been at all relevant, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the letter.
- (C) The letter constituted impermissible hearsay not falling under any hearsay exception.
- (D) The letter constituted impermissible prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, having no logical relation to the crimes for which Appellant was standing trial, and, to the extent the letter had any probative value, its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

II.

The trial court erred reversibly in admitting the entirety of a 911 call, purportedly made by Drafton where:

- (A) The State failed to present sufficient evidence to authenticate that the self-identifying caller to 911 was Drafton.
- (B) The admission of the 911 call violated Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront and cross-examine witnesses, pursuant to *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) and *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813 (2006).

III.

The trial court committed reversible error in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal where the State failed to present any substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant intended to commit a crime once inside Drafton's apartment, or that Appellant injured Drafton in the course of committing a burglary; and where the evidence that the State did present merely raised the suspicion of Appellant's guilt.

IV.

The trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial where the cumulative effect of the errors was so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2014, the Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted Appellant DeMario Thompson for one count of first degree burglary, one count of attempted murder, one count of possession or display of a firearm during a violent crime, and two counts of pointing and presenting a firearm. R. 124-127; R. 3, ll. 2-9.

On January 5, 2015, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Brian Gibbons and a jury. Brandon Steen represented Appellant and Assistant Solicitor Andrew Cook represented the State. Judge Gibbons granted directed verdicts of acquittal for the two counts of pointing and presenting a firearm. R. 86, ll. 8-23.

The jury found Appellant not guilty of attempted murder and not guilty of possession or display of a firearm during a violent crime. R. 115, ll. 20 – 116, ll. 12. However, the jury did find Appellant guilty of first degree burglary and guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery third degree. *Id.* The trial court sentenced Appellant to time served for assault and battery and to fifteen years imprisonment for first degree burglary. R. 118, ll. 9 – 122, ll. 3.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the early morning hours of July 2, 2014, Appellant and his girlfriend, Keasia Drafton, had an argument at the Lancaster County apartment complex where Drafton lived. R. 34, ll. 18 – 35, ll. 14. Drafton’s across-the-hall neighbor, Dominique Huff, and Huff’s girlfriend, Jamie Hunt, called 911 and reported hearing an unknown person shout that Appellant had a gun. R. 21, ll. 24- 22, ll. 2; R. 55, ll. 2-12. Lancaster County Deputy Rueben Silberman responded to the 911 calls. R. 36, ll. 14-21.

Upon arriving at the apartments, Silberman would recall that Drafton appeared to have bruising on her neck and face and that her clothes were torn. R. State’s Exhibit 1; R. 37, ll. 3-8. Silberman testified at trial that:

When I first arrived I noticed the door appeared to have been kicked in. The *deadbolt was still engaged and the door was hanging slightly off its hinges*, and it looked as though in her living room there was some sort of disturbance. . .

Id. at ll. 11-16; R. State’s Exhibit 1 (*emphasis added*). Silberman would clarify that when he arrived the door was only “partially” open, while the photographs he took showed the door completely open as a result of him walking inside. R. 41, ll. 22 – 42, ll. 10.

Appellant was not at the apartment when law enforcement arrived. R. 42, ll. 5-6. In addition to speaking with Drafton, Silberman also spoke with Huff and another neighbor, Sandra Nelson. R. 43, ll. 22 – 44, ll. 3. Silberman did not see Appellant that night and no gun was ever recovered. R. 44, ll. 23 – 45, ll. 8. Drafton did not seek medical attention and Silberman did not believe her injuries required any treatment. *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the trespass notice letter signed by Keasia Drafton and the apartment complex manager, Janice Sager, advising Drafton that she could be evicted if Appellant was found in the apartment complex where: (A) the letter was irrelevant to the accusations against Appellant; (B) assuming *arguendo* that the letter may have been at all relevant, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the letter; (C) the letter constituted impermissible hearsay not falling under any hearsay exception; and (D) the letter constituted impermissible prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, having no logical relation to the crimes for which Appellant was standing trial, and, to the extent the letter had any probative value, its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect

Relevant Facts

The State sought to introduce a trespass notice letter, signed by Drafton four months before the incident in question, where apartment manager, Janice Sager, had Drafton acknowledge that Appellant was not supposed to be at the apartment complex. R. 28, ll. 6-15; R.125. There was no evidence Appellant was aware of this letter.

Pre-Trial Motion to Suppress Sager's Testimony and Letter

Appellant moved to suppress both Sager's testimony and the letter on several grounds: (1) under Rule 602, SCRE, Sager had no personal knowledge of the incident in question making her testimony irrelevant; (2) under Rule 404(b), SCRE, the letter and her testimony constituted impermissible bad character evidence; (3) the letter was irrelevant because there was no proof that Appellant was aware of it; and (4) under Rule 403, SCRE, the letter had no probative value because it was not related to the incident in question but was highly prejudicial. R. 11, ll. 6 – 18, ll. 13.

Rule 602 Objection

Defense counsel argued Sager had no personal knowledge of the incident and that the trespass notice letter was completely irrelevant to Appellant's charges. *Id.* In reply, the State advanced that Sager's testimony and the letter would

[E]stablish the fact that [Appellant] did not inherently have consent to go into the apartment where the incident occurred and to establish that that's not his home. So one of the elements of burglary is that you enter a dwelling without consent. ***If that is your home you inherently have consent to go.***

R. 11, ll. 20 – 12, ll. 2 (*emphasis added*).

Defense counsel countered that consent must be judged from the perspective of the person in lawful possession of the dwelling, not the property owner and that there was no evidence that Appellant was aware of the notice. R. 12, ll. 7-13. Curiously, the trial court held that the letter went only to the credibility of Sager's testimony. *Id.* at ll. 14-23.

Rule 404(b) Objection

Defense counsel next stated that Sager's testimony would have to explain why Appellant was banned from the complex. R. 13, ll. 3-4. In contrast, the State argued that the letter did not constitute prior bad act evidence because it did not say why Appellant was banned. *Id.* at ll. 8-24. The State claimed that it only planned to use Sager and the letter to impeach Drafton if she testified that Appellant had permission to be at the apartment or that he lived at the apartment. *Id.* Drafton did not testify.

Defense counsel countered that the State was actually offering the letter to show that Appellant had notice of the trespass warning. R. 14, ll. 12-23. Further, that the jury would naturally believe that Appellant had to have done something wrong for the letter to have been generated. *Id.* The State reiterated its intention to use the letter to impeach Drafton as she had:

[A]cknowledged the fact that [Appellant] was not supposed to be there. This is not going against [Appellant], this is more so aimed towards Ms. Drafton. *He doesn't have to be convicted or anything to be put on trespass notice of an apartment complex.* It's a privately owned complex They can decide who comes and goes from there.

R. 15, ll. 5-20. In rebuttal, defense counsel again stated that the letter was completely irrelevant because it was a communication between Drafton and Sager and the State could not establish Appellant was even aware of it. R. 15, ll. 22 – 33, ll. 4.

The trial court ruled that the letter was not improper character evidence under Rule 404(b) and was admissible “to prove a certain element of the crime that he didn't have consent -- he could not have consent to be there because the person who owns the property regardless of the tenant -- what the tenant says, he was not supposed to be there.” R. 16, ll. 17-21.

Rule 403 Objection

Defense counsel's final pretrial objection to Sager's testimony and the letter was that, pursuant to Rule 403, both would mislead the jury into erroneously believing the trespass notice was related to the incident for which Appellant was standing trial or that it proved an element of burglary. R. 17, ll. 3-8. Moreover, the unfair, prejudicial impact of the letter and Sager's testimony would outweigh any possible probative value. *Id.* The State replied that the letter and Sager's potential testimony were not substantially prejudicial because the letter did not allege a specific bad act by Appellant. *Id.* at ll. 14-25.

Before denying defense's counsel motion, the court asked if Appellant was willing to to “concede that he didn't have a right to be on the property”? R. 18, ll. 1-5. Defense counsel stated that he would not and the trial court denied the motion. *Id.* at ll. 6-13.

Hearsay Objection

Prior to the jury being sworn, defense counsel further objected to the letter as hearsay. R. 22, ll. 5-14. “If [Sager is] testifying to that document, the State said that it was an acknowledgment by Ms. Drafton, clearly a statement made by the declarant that's not testifying here today is hearsay.” *Id.* The court declined to rule until hearing the testimony. *Id.* at ll. 9-14.

Trial Testimony of Janice Sager

Defense counsel renewed his pre-trial objections to Sager’s testimony and to the trespass notice letter. R. 56, ll. 19-23; R. 58, ll. 13-25. Again the court overruled the objections. Through Sager, the State introduced trespass notice letter. Over defense counsel’s renewed objection, Sager testified that the letter was “an acknowledgment that [Appellant] has been banned” from the apartment complex. R. 58, ll. 15-24. Sager stated that Drafton signed the notice in her presence. R. 59, ll. 1-13. The State then moved the letter into evidence and the Court preserved defense counsel’s previous objections. *Id.* at ll. 9-15. On cross-examination, Sager admitted that she was not present during the incident for which Appellant was on trial. *Id.* at ll. 19-21.

A. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the trespass notice letter when it was irrelevant to the accusations against Appellant, having no bearing on any element of the first degree burglary indictment for which Appellant standing trial.

“Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 647, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999) (citing Rule 401, SCRE (providing the definition of relevant evidence)). There was no fact in controversy in Appellant’s case that was made more or less probable by the introduction of the trespass notice letter. R. 11, ll. 6 – 14, ll. 6. Burglary is a crime against possession and habitation, not a crime against ownership. *State v. Clamp*, 225 S.C. 89, 102, 80 S.E.2d 918, 924 (1954); *State v. Alford*, 142 S.C. 43, 45, 140 S.E. 261, 262 (1927); *State v.*

Trapp, 17 S.C. 467, 471 (1882). The focus in burglary is on the victim's possessory interest. *State v. Singley*, 392 S.C. 270, 709 S.E.2d 603 (2011).

Perhaps anticipating that Drafton would not testify so there would be nothing to impeach, the State posited that the letter would also somehow establish that Appellant, “did not inherently have consent to go into the apartment.” *Id.* Similarly, the trial court ruled that the letter was being offered to, “*prove a certain element of the crime*[,] that he didn't have consent -- he could not have consent to be there because *the person who owns the property regardless of the tenant* -- what the tenant says, he was not supposed to be there.” R. 16, ll. 5-23 (*emphasis added*).

Drafton, not the landlord, held the possessory interest in the apartment. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-40-430; *see also Singley*, 392 S.C. at 445-446, 679 S.E.2d at 542 (ownership of property title did not give defendant possessory interest, lawful possessor's consent was required for entry). Moreover, the State produced no evidence that Appellant was aware of the four month old letter. R. 14, ll. 12-23.

Accordingly, the trespass notice letter signed by Drafton and the apartment complex manager four months before the incident giving rise to the charges Appellant was standing trial for; was completely irrelevant and had no bearing on any matter in controversy. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-620; Rule 402, SCRE,

B. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the letter signed by Drafton and the apartment complex manager advising Drafton that she could be evicted if Appellant was found in the apartment complex where, assuming *arguendo* that the letter may have been at all relevant, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value of the letter.

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Rule

403, SCRE. “[A] court analyzing probative value considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates.” *State v. Collins*, 398 S.C. 197, 203, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012). “Like probative value, unfair prejudice should be evaluated in the practical context of the issues at stake in the trial of the case.” *Collins*, 398 S.C. at 207, 727 S.E.2d at 757; *see also State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001).

Any probative value the letter had was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and the very real risk of misleading the jury into wrongfully concluding that the trespass notice established that Appellant did not have consent to enter the apartment because of the landlord’s prohibition. Additionally, there was also a substantial risk that the letter would lead the jury to erroneously determine that Appellant had the requisite intent to commit a crime inside the dwelling based on the incorrect belief that Appellant knew he was trespassing. *State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501 (1975) *citing State v. Corn*, 215 S.C. 166, 54 S.E.2d 559 (1949) (applying the doctrine of *res inter alios acta* – “things done between strangers out not to injure those who are not parties to them” – in relevancy analysis).

In light of Drafton’s unavailability at trial, the admission of the trespass letter was unfairly prejudicial to Appellant. Moreover, the State repeatedly stressed in its closing arguments that the letter and Sager’s testimony proved that Appellant did not have consent: “Janice Sager . . . even showed a paper that Demario is not even supposed to be at the entire apartment complex, let alone Ms. Drafton's house.” R. 92, ll. 10-16; R. 93, ll. 16-18.

The risk of misleading the jury and unfairly prejudicing the Appellant was substantial as the letter was with the jury during their deliberations. R. 106, ll. 21 – 111, ll. 7; *State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009) (evidence admitted under the other-acts rule must be logically relevant to establish a material element of the crime with which the defendant has been charged); *see also*

State v. Gullede, 277 S.C. 368, 287 S.E.2d 488 (1982) (allowing jury to have transcript of deceased police officer's radio call was an abuse of discretion as it unduly emphasized that evidence).

C. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the trespass notice letter signed by Drafton and the apartment complex manager advising Drafton that she could be evicted if Appellant was found in the apartment complex where the letter was impermissible hearsay which improperly and misleadingly bolstered the State's case.

“Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE; *see State v. Townsend*, 321 S.C. 55, 59, 467 S.E.2d 138, 141 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding hearsay is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted). Notably, “[h]earsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE.

Whether an entry is made without consent is determined from the perspective of the lawful possessor of the dwelling. *Singley*, 383 S.C. at 442. Drafton was the lawful possessor of the apartment, not the apartment complex owner. The State presented Drafton's signature on the trespass letter as proof that Appellant “did not have an inherent right” to be in complex; thus Drafton was the declarant. *State v. Nelson*, 380 S.C. 226, 669 S.E.2d 595 (Ct. App. 2008) (co-conspirator was declarant as he made statements intended to be assertions).

The letter was an assertion offered by the State as proof of an element of first degree burglary: that Appellant did not have consent to enter Drafton's apartment. Therefore, the letter was impermissible hearsay and the trial court abused its discretion in ruling it admissible. Rule 802, SCRE.

D. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting the trespass notice letter signed by Keasia Drafton and the apartment complex manager advising Drafton that she could be evicted if Appellant was found in the apartment complex where the letter constituted impermissible prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, having no logical relation to the crimes for which Appellant was standing trial, and, to the extent the letter had any probative value, its probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect.

Under Rule 404(b), SCRE, evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts are generally not admissible to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged. *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008). However, such evidence is admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006); *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing. *Id.*; *State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 135–36, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682–83 (2000). Even if otherwise admissible, prior bad act evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. Rule 404(b), SCRE; *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007) (trial court must gauge logical relevancy of prior bad act, whether it reasonably tends to prove a material fact in issue, to the particular purpose for which it is sought to be introduced).

In the present case, the trial court erred reversibly by ruling that Rule 404(b) was inapplicable to the trespass notice letter. R. 16, ll. 5-23. The trial court incorrectly ruled that the letter was being offered to prove that Appellant did not have consent to be in the apartment. *Id.* As examined in sub-section (A) of this argument, burglary is crime against possession not ownership. Drafton, not the landlord, held the possessory interest in the apartment. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 27-

40-430; *see also Singley*, 392 S.C. at 445-446, 679 S.E.2d at 542

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