ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 14 2017

Appeal From Lancaster County
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-000126

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DEMARIO MONTE THOMPSON,

Appellant.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DOUGLAS A. BARFIELD, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

PO Box 607
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721
(864) 596-575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

⁴Further, the notice was not offered to prove Appellant was banned from the property, but as evidence he was not a resident of the complex. Thus, it is arguable the notice was not hearsay under Rule 801(c), SCRE, because it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted therein.

⁵Appellant's assertion the notice "invited speculation by the jury" is itself rank speculation. The State told the jury exactly what the notice showed in connection with the burglary charge - Appellant was not a resident of the apartment complex, and did not have consent to be on the property on July 2, 2014.

D. Harmless Error

Finally, any error in admitting the notice was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. See State v. Keenon, 356 S.C. 457, 590 S.E.2d 34,35 (2003) (evidentiary error was harmless error in light of the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt).

As discussed above, the assailant's identity was not disputed, and consent was the primary issue at trial. The fact Appellant kicked in the apartment door to gain entry, as shown by the photographs entered into evidence without objection, the victim's 911 call (discussed below in Issue II), combined with the extent of the victim's injuries shown in the photographs, fairly conclusively established Appellant did not have consent to enter the apartment. If the victim willingly invited Appellant into the apartment, it is highly unlikely he just kicked in the door for no reason. It is also highly unlikely the victim invited him inside to beat her.

The circuit court properly considered the relevance and probative value of the trespass notice, as well as the prejudice to Appellant, and did not abuse its discretion in admitting the notice into the evidence. Further, any error in admitting the notice was harmless. Accordingly, the circuit court's rulings and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

II. The circuit court properly admitted the 911 recording, which was authenticated by the Department of Public Communications and the dispatcher who took the call, and its contents did not violate Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in admitting the recording of the victim's 911 call. He argues the State failed to establish a proper foundation showing the victim was the actual caller, and admitting the recordings violated his Sixth and Fourteenth confrontation rights as discussed in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813 (2006). Both contentions are meritless.

A. Foundation

The Director of Lancaster County Public Communications testified the County's 911 calls are automatically recorded on County servers, and maintained on the servers for three years. She identified the 911 calls involving the incident on July 2, 2014, and the victim's 911 call recording was published to the jury over Appellant's objection.⁶

The 911 dispatcher who took the victim's call identified her own voice on the recording. She further testified the recording contained the entire conversation, and dispatchers have to rely on information they receive from the caller in order to dispatch necessary services. She could not testify with certainty the woman who called was the victim.

Appellant correctly notes there are no South Carolina cases addressing the particular foundational situation at issue in this case, however, other jurisdictions have addressed it. In State v. Williams, 136 Wash. App. 486, 150 P.3d 111, 118 (2007), the court held a sound recording need not be authenticated by a witness with personal

⁶The State indicated there were seven related recordings, and it intended to introduce several of the recordings, but it is unclear from the record whether any recordings other than the victim's recording were published to the jury.

knowledge of the events recorded, but the proponent can authenticate a recording with conversation on it by **any method that produces evidence sufficient to support basic findings of identification and authentication.** See also Johnson v. State, 699 N.E.2d 746, 749 (Ind. Ct. App. 1998) (voices on a recording may be identified by circumstantial evidence).

In State v. C.D.L., 250 P.3d 69 (Utah 2011), the court interpreted Rule 901 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, which is virtually identical to Rule 901, SCRE, and sets forth authentication requirements for evidence. The court stated:

Rule 901 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires authentication by “evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Utah R. Evid. 901. To this end, the rule provides a nonexhaustive list of examples illustrating how authentication can be satisfied, noting, for example, that a voice may be identified “by opinion based upon hearing the voice at any time under circumstances connecting it with the alleged speaker” or where “circumstances, including self-identification, show the person answering to be the one called.” *Id.* R. 901(b)(5), (6). Proper authentication does not require conclusive proof but, instead, requires only that the trial court determine that there is “evidence sufficient to support a finding of the fulfillment of [a] condition” of fact

Authentication of a telephone caller's identity can be accomplished by combining that caller's self-identification during the call with circumstances surrounding the call. Particularly, “[t]he identity of a telephone caller may be established by self-identification of the caller coupled with additional evidence such as the context and timing of the telephone call, the contents of the statement challenged, internal patterns or other distinctive characteristics, and disclosure of knowledge of facts known peculiarly to the caller.” United States v. Orozco-Santillan, 903 F.2d 1262, 1266 (9th Cir.1990), overruled in part on other grounds by United States v. Hanna, 293 F.3d 1080, 1088 n. 5 (9th Cir.2002); see also State v. Rushton, 2003 UT App 25U, para. 4, 2003 WL 21299576 (mem.) (looking to self-identification and other contextual evidence to authenticate a caller's identity); United States v. Puerta Restrepo, 814 F.2d 1236, 1239 (7th Cir.1987) (“[I]t is not necessary that someone familiar with the speaker's voice identify it. The authentication may be established by circumstantial evidence such as the similarity between what was discussed by the speakers and what each subsequently did.” (citation omitted))

Id. at 69, 78 (emphasis added); *see also* Rodriguez-Nova v. State, 295 Ga. 868, 763 S.E.2d 698, 701 (2014) (proper foundation established by the 911 operator who received the call verifying the 911 recording's accuracy, and the employee who made the recording verifying the authenticity of the copy; an audio recording can be authenticated by testimony of one party to the recorded conversation).

The cases cited and discussed above set forth a reasonable analysis for the authentication of 911 recordings. In this case, the Director and dispatcher verified the authenticity of the recording, and the dispatcher identified her voice on the recording of the victim's call. During the call, the victim identified herself and Appellant, gave the 911 dispatcher her specific address, and said Appellant kicked in her apartment door while she was sleeping, pointed a gun at her and beat her. Except for Appellant's possession of a gun, when they arrived at the apartment, law enforcement verified all of the information provided to 911 by observing the damaged door, indications of a struggle inside the apartment, and the victim's injuries, and by interviewing neighbors about the incident. Considered in totality, there was substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could find the victim was the caller on the recording.

B. Confrontation Clause

Citing Crawford and Davis, Appellant contends admitting the recording of the victim's 911 call violated the Confrontation Clause because "large portions" of the recording contained testimonial statements he never had an opportunity to cross-examine. Neither Crawford nor Davis support Appellant's contention.

Appellant engages in the same misapprehension and mischaracterization regarding the 911 call he accuses the State of engaging in before the circuit court. In his

attempt to make the victim's 911 call testimonial, it is clear Appellant has no understanding of police and 911 procedures because he insists the emergency was over when the victim called, and therefore, the dispatcher interrogated the victim for purposes of a subsequent prosecution. When considered in light of the existing circumstances surrounding the victim's call, the fallacy of Appellant's argument becomes clear.

Two of the seven 911 calls received that night (including the victim's) mentioned the assailant had a gun, and he was injuring the victim.⁷ Therefore, the officers were responding to a violent situation, with the potential for an active shooter, and the dispatcher's job was to provide them with as much information as possible for safety reasons. When the victim stated Appellant was no longer at the apartment, contrary to Appellant's contention, the emergency situation was **not** over. Rather, the potentially armed assailant could still be in the area, and possibly return to the apartment, and it was important for the dispatcher to get a description of his clothes so the responding officers could distinguish him from other people who might be in the area.

⁷Appellant attempts to draw some distinction between the one call reporting someone said he had a gun and the victim's call stating he had a gun and pointed it at her, and argues the distinction "is important when prosecuting a case, but immaterial when responding to an emergency." (Brief of Appellant, p. 28). This attempt further illustrates Appellant's complete lack of knowledge regarding law enforcement procedures when responding to an emergency. The distinction Appellant makes is truly "immaterial" to responding officers because they have to proceed as if a gun is involved, and take the necessary precautions to protect themselves and the public. Likewise, contrary to Appellant's contention there was no evidence the dispatcher relayed the information she got from the victim to the officers, she testified the times she was not talking during the call, she was typing the information provided by the victim. (TT, p. 89; R., pp. 72). Modern emergency notification systems send the information the dispatcher types directly to computers in the officers' patrol cars in real time. If the officers' cars are not equipped with computers, the dispatcher's information is immediately relayed to the officers by radio.

Rather than supporting Appellant's contention the recording at issue was testimonial under Crawford, Davis is almost on point with the facts of this case, and clearly establishes Crawford does not apply to the recording at issue. Davis also involved a domestic dispute, and the victim, who did not testify at trial, called 911.

The 911 dispatcher asked the victim multiple questions regarding the assailant's identity, the presence of any weapons in the house, and whether the assailant had been drinking. 547 U.S. at 817-818 The Court held the victim's responses to those questions were nontestimonial because the questions and responses were about events as they were actually happening, rather than information about past events. "A 911 call ... and at least the initial interrogation conducted in connection with a 911 call, is ordinarily not designed primarily to 'establis[h] or prov[e]' some past fact, but to describe current circumstances requiring police assistance." *Id.* at 827-828. The Court concluded from all the circumstances the primary purpose of the questions and responses was to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency, and the victim was not acting as a witness or testifying at that time. *Id.* at 828.

In State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 775 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2015), the South Carolina Court of Appeals acknowledged the distinction between the testimonial statements at issue in Crawford, and the non-testimonial statements in Davis, and held the circuit court did not err in admitting the victim's 911 call.⁸ The Court stated the 911 call at issue fell "between those in Crawford and Davis," but was "closer to Davis." *Id.* at 48-

⁸The victim in Bratschi could not testify at trial because the defendant (his wife) murdered him at some point after the 911 call, and the Court's opinion does not indicate whether someone was able to identify the victim's voice on the recording.

50. Significantly, the 911 recording in Bratschi was much longer, with substantially more substance, than the call at issue in this case

Under the holdings in Davis and Bratschi, the circuit court properly determined the victim's statements were non-testimonial and admitted the 911 recording into evidence. Accordingly, there was no Confrontation Clause violation, and the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed.

III. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because there was ample evidence in the record from which the jury could, and did, find Appellant entered the victim's apartment without consent in the nighttime and with the intent to commit a crime therein.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in denying his directed verdict motion on the burglary charge, contending the State failed to present sufficient evidence regarding his intent to commit a crime in the apartment, or that he injured the victim in the course of committing the burglary, and the evidence presented merely raised suspicion Appellant was guilty. On the contrary, there was substantial circumstantial evidence that warranted submitting the burglary charge to the jury.

In reviewing a defendant's directed verdict motion, the trial judge is only concerned with the existence of evidence, not with its weight, and the appellate courts must view the evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Larmand, 415 S.C. 23, 780 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2015). If there is either any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the defendant's guilt, appellate courts must find the trial judge properly submitted the case to the jury. *Id.*

In addition to the victim's 911 recording identifying Appellant by name, and stating he kicked the door in while she slept and beat her up, the pictures of the door revealed it was forced open with such force the deadbolt lock could not withstand it. The pictures of the victim's injuries show exactly what Appellant did after forcing his way into the apartment. (State's Exhibit 1 [Photos]; R., pp. ____).⁹

⁹ State's Exhibit 1 on file with the Court.

Further, Dominique Huff testified he came out of his apartment when he heard a commotion outside, and saw the victim's door hanging open. The apartment interior was dark so he could not see anyone inside, but he heard "a whole bunch of commotion" coming from the apartment. He went back inside his apartment, but came outside a second time after he heard the man had a gun. At that time, he saw Appellant standing downstairs arguing with another neighbor. He also saw the victim come outside her apartment wearing only a shirt and underwear, and she was crying and "hysterical." (TT, pp. 64-70; R., pp. 47-53).

Considering the evidence, and all reasonable inferences, in the light most favorable to the State, the jury could, and did, easily conclude Appellant entered the victim's apartment without consent, in the nighttime, and with the intent to harm her. Therefore, the circuit court properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion and submitted the burglary charge to the jury.

IV. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion for a new trial because the court did not commit errors so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial.

Appellant argues the circuit court erred in denying his motion for a new trial because the cumulative effect of the purported evidentiary errors deprived him of a fair trial. As discussed above, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting any of the challenged evidence, and there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the court's denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion. Even if this Court finds error in the admission of certain evidence, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Accordingly, there were no evidentiary errors that cumulatively prejudiced Appellant, and this issue is meritless.

CONCLUSION